COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondent,

۷.

APCOMPOWER, INC.,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW



DOUGLAS B.M. EHLKE WSBA #3160 Ehlke Law Offices 28840 11th Avenue South Federal Way, WA 98063 (253) 839-5555

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

APComPower Inc. is incorporated in Delaware and is a wholly owned subsidiary of Alstom Power Inc., also a Delaware corporation. APCom has worked as a non-asbestos maintenance sub-contractor at the TransAlta Centralia Steam Plant for over 10 years and has never had any prior WISHA asbestos citations.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review under RAP 13.3(a)(1) and RAP 13.4(b) of the Unpublished Opinion filed December 17, 2013 by Division II of the Washington Court of Appeals, No. 43104-1-II, reversing the Superior Court's judgment dismissing the WISHA citations and finding reasonable diligence by APCom. Appendix A at pages A-1 through A-18 contains a copy of the decision. The Decision terminated review.¹

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue 1: Did the Court of Appeals apply the wrong standard

•

¹ Petitioner filed a Motion for Reconsideration on January 6, 2014, but it may have been untimely, and files this Petition as a precaution in view of the importance of the issues.

of review when it failed to apply the WISHA statute's required "substantial evidence" test under RCW 49.17.150(1) and used the inapplicable Administrative Procedures Act procedure in violation with this Court's decision in <u>Cobra Roofing</u>?

Issue 2: The building owner and its agent designed a specific work area and represented it to be clean and asbestos-free. Did the Court of Appeals erroneously apply Washington law by shifting the burden of proof, in direct conflict with the WISHA Act and case law, when the Court "presumed" a designated clean, asbestos-free work area material was asbestos, together with the Court's resulting presumption of employer knowledge of a violation and that the employer's failure to exercise reasonable diligence? The undisputed findings below at the Board found that all of the asbestos thermal insulation had been removed and replaced with non-asbestos mineral wool in the designated work area. The Court of Appeals, presumption has never before been applied to non-asbestos contractors subject to WISHA or OSHA. Is the Court's new presumptions likely to cause confusion?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. THE BUILDING OWNER AGREED WITH APCOM'S FINDING OF NO ASBESTOS HAZARD IN THE DESIGNATED WORK AREA. STATED IT WAS CLEAN --FREE OF ANY ASBESTOS.

The Board's Industrial Appeals Judge's ("IAJ") Proposed

Decision and Order at page 6, lines 6-7, recognizes this undisputed

fact and see the Department's Response Brief, page 3, lines 3-4.

"The <u>area between the preheaters</u> had been modified in the past, and the [asbestos-containing material] <u>had been removed at that time</u>. (IAJ's Proposed Decision and Order at page 6, lines 6-7) (emphasis added). The Departments own witness, Keith Ortis of Performance Abatement Services, responsible for all asbestos abatement services at this TransAlta Plant Site testified:

Q: Okay. But you abated any asbestos in the middle: is that correct? A: Yes.

(May 17, 2010, CABR at page 37, lines 21-23) (emphasis added.)

In 2009, APCom was repairing parts of the TransAlta plant. Before starting the job, craft foremen and safety coordinators looked at the scope of the work and wrote a job safety analysis (JSA) for each part. The JSA lists each hazard employees might encounter and states how the hazard will be handled. The air preheater JSA is Employer Exhibit No. 7. It is extremely detailed and thorough, and it does not list asbestos anywhere. That is because asbestos was removed by TransAlta's asbestos abatement contractor before APCom starts its work. (TR of May 18, 2010, CABR at page 30). TransAlta reviewed and approved the JSA without changes. (TR of May 18, 2010, CABR at pages 28-30).

APCom relied upon TransAlta and PAS' "no asbestos" designation of the areas between #11 and #12 preheaters.

Before beginning work APCom's Area Supervisor Ralph

Mitchell had the Centralia plant asbestos designated removal

experts NAES Company and its subcontractor PAS check the

TransAlta designated work area to be worked on by APCom.

"I went to the proper asbestos removal. In this case it would be NAES and they brought in PCS or PAS, Scott Gaffkey, and **they did a check of the area**.

Q. Did you accompany them up to that area?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. Who was with you when you went up there?

A. Keith Ortis and Scott Gaffkey."

(Ralph Mitchell, TR of May 18, 2010, CABR at page 55). (emphasis added)

Mr. Ortis has worked at the plant for 25 years. (Keith Ortis,

TR of May 17, 2010, CABR at page 7). TransAlta's asbestos policy

lists him as the Washington State Certified Asbestos Inspector.

(Employer Exhibit No. 3, p. 3), Mr. Ortis testified that part of his job

was is telling people where asbestos is. "Since I have the

knowledge of asbestos, the only person on site." (Keith Ortis, TR

May 17, 2010 CABR at page 9).

Mr. Mitchell was comfortable with the information he

received. He relied on the map (Ralph Mitchell, TR of May 18,

2010, CABR at page 57, and Exhibit 1). He had worked with Mr.

Ortis in that area before and knew that asbestos had been

previously abated (Ralph Mitchell, TR of May 18, 2010, CABR at

page 56). Mr. Ortis had abated the asbestos between the preheater #11 and #12 and replaced it with non-asbestos (mineral rock wool). (Keith Ortis, TR of May17, 2010, CABR at page 512 and 37)

B. THE AREA BETWEEN THE PREHEATERS HAD BEEN MODIFIED IN THE PAST: THE ASBESTOS-CONTAINING MATERIAL HAD BEEN REMOVED AND REPLACED AT THE TIME.

The Department's own witness, Keith Ortis of Performance

Abatement Services, responsible for all asbestos abatement

service at this TransAlta Plant Site and the admitted only person

who knew of where it had been removed and replaced with non-

asbestos mineral wool stated to APCom managers testified

Q: Okay. But you abated any asbestos in the middle: is that correct?

A: Yes.

(K. Ortis May 17, 2010 CABR at p. 37, lines 21-23).

Q. All right. In <u>between 11 and 12 where there had been</u>, where <u>asbestos had been removed was there any block material</u>? A. <u>No</u>.

(K. Ortis May 17, 2010 CABR at p. 12, lines 22-24) (emphasis added)

All asbestos thermal insulation material between #11 and

#12 preheaters had been removed by PAS for TransAlta after

1985, when Mr. Ortis began his 25 years of asbestos removal and

.

replacement with non-asbestos mineral wool for the Centralia Steam Plant. He described himself as the only person on-site to have this asbestos and asbestos removal area on-site. (K. Ortis

May 17, 2010 CABR at pp. 7-9)

C. APCOM RECEIVED REPEATED ASSURANCES THAT ALL THE ASBESTOS THERMAL INSULATION HAD BEEN REMOVED AND REPLACED WITH NON-ASBESTOS MINERAL WOOL, AND THAT THERE WAS NO ASBESTOS BLOCK TYPE INSULATION BETWEEN THE #11 AND #12 PREHEATERS.

Before performing any work, APCom's diligent safety efforts

included requesting and receiving assurances that from TransAlta,

the building owner, and TransAlta's agent for asbestos insulation

removal and replacement, performance abatement services, that

the designated work area was clean and free of asbestos. APCom

received repeated assurances that all the asbestos thermal

insulation had been removed and replaced with non-asbestos

mineral wool, and that there was no asbestos block type insulation

between the #11 and #12 preheaters.

APCom's efforts included:

- a) Contractually required an asbestos free work area
- b) Contractually obtained the owner's promise that all areas of asbestos were identified and did not include where APCom was allowed to work

- c) Performed a detailed Job Safety Analysis (JSA) to identify make sure that any hazards in the work area did not include asbestos
- d) Obtained the building owner-operator TransAlta's agreement that all areas had to be all-clear and free of any asbestos materials (Kersandra Puderbaugh, TR of May 18, 2010, CABR at pages 30-31)
- e) Walked the area with two certified asbestos abatement representatives of the owner's exclusive designated asbestos abatement contractor, PAS, and verified no asbestos existed between the two preheaters #11 and #12. One of these PAS representatives the "competent person", Keith Ortis, has worked at the Centralia Power Plant for 25 years removing insulation and asbestos. Mr. Ortis testified that he is the "only onsite person with knowledge of its asbestos-containing material (ACM) whereabouts." (P.D. &O., at page 5; Keith Ortis, May 17, 2010 TR, CABR at page 9, lines 8-13)
- f) Obtained information from Mr. Ortis that the asbestos insulation which previously existed in between preheaters #11 and #12
 - Had been removed and
 - Had been replaced with non-asbestos mineral wool insulation and
 - That there was no asbestos block type insulation in between #11 and #12 (Keith Ortis, TR of May 17, 2010, CABR at page 12, lines 2-11 and 22-24)

D. THE SUPERIOR COURT REVERSED AND FOUND IN FAVOR OF APCOM

The Superior Court Judge James Lawler conducted an

exhaustive review of the testimony and exhibits and under the

WISHA Act's judicial review section, RCW 49.17.159(1) issued an

Order reversing the Board IAJ Decision and made these missing

findings of fact (Appendix D):

- The employer did not know of the violative condition and there is no evidence to show that they knew that there was asbestos-containing material in the area where they were working.
- APComPower exercised reasonable diligence to try to determine whether there was asbestos there or not.
- APComPower did everything that they could to avoid the ACM.
- APComPower did the job safety analysis prior to commencing work to ensure that they were in a safe area.
- APComPower walked the area with a Pacific Abatement Services employee, Mr. Ortis, the only one who knew where asbestos is. He pointed out that the work area for APComPower was asbestos-free.
- Mr. Ortis is the only person who knows where everything is out there. He has worked there for 25 years and he is the only one who knows. The problem is that his knowledge is not quite as accurate as it should be based on the fact that he does not keep any records. This is not something that APCom knew at the time.
- APComPower did take reasonable steps to make sure they did not contact asbestos. They specifically tried to stay away from asbestos and took a number of steps to try to have it confirmed by the certified asbestos removal contractor that there was no asbestos in the area.
- APComPower's reliance on Mr. Ortis and their actions were reasonable.

 Substantial evidence does not support the Board's finding that APComPower Inc. had knowledge of the violative conditions. APComPower Inc. exercised reasonable diligence to obtain an asbestos-free worksite at the Company's TransAlta Steam Plant in Centralia, Washington.

E. THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION TWO APPLIED AS A PRESUMPTION

The Court of Appeals applied a presumption, nowhere

applied below, that the work area material was asbestos, and

imputed knowledge to the employer used the new presumption to

decide reasonable diligence without review of the Superior Court's

findings. APCom contends this presumption is contrary and in

direct conflict with established OSHA and WISHA case law and

statutes.

V. ARGUMENT

A. THE COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO CORRECT THE COURT OF APPEALS' ERRONEOUS STANDARD OF REVIEW USING RCW 34.05 WHICH DOES NOT APPLY TO WISHA PROCEEDINGS UNDER RCW 49.17.150 AND WHICH IS IN DIRECT CONFLICT WITH THE WELL ESTABLISHED STANDARD OF REVIEW AND THE COBRA ROOFING CO. DEISION OF THIS COURT

On page 14 of its Unpublished Opinion, instead of using the

required "substantial evidence" test to review the Superior Court's

Findings of Fact which were missing from the IAJ's decision, the

Court adopted a presumption scope on review and ignored the

Superior Court's proper modification of the Board IAJ decision

"under RCW 34.05.562(2)(a)." (Op. p. 14)

This Court in Cobra Roofing v. Dep't. of Labor & Indus., 122

Wn. App. 402, 409, 97 P.3d 17 (2004), aff'd, 157 Wn. 2d 990, 135

P.3d 913 (2006) (citing Stuckey v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 129

Wn.2d 289, 295, 916 P.2d 399 (1996)) at p. 5 specifically ruled that

the APA does not apply to judicial review of WISHA cases.

"However, the APA's provisions governing judicial review do not apply to the adjudicative proceedings of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals or to the Department of Labor and Industries where another statute expressly provides for review of adjudicative proceedings. RCW 34.05.030(2)(a), (c)." (emphasis supplied)

By ignoring the mandated focus and statutory requirements for "serious" citations -- knowledge and reasonable diligent efforts of the employer -- the Court of Appeals decision applied the wrong standard of review.

The Department and the Secretary of Labor under OSHA or WISHA must always show that the employer had actual or constructive knowledge of the violative conditions. See Sec'y of Labor v. Astra Pharm. Prods., Inc., 9 BNA OSHC 2126, *4 (Jul. 30. 1981) (aff'd in part and remanded in part, Astra Pharm. Prods., Inc.,

.

v. OSHA, 681 F.2d 69 (1st Cir. 1982)) ("In order to prove a violation of section 5(a)(2) of the [Occupational Safety and Health] Act, 29 U.S.C. § 654(a)(2), the Secretary must show by a preponderance of the evidence that (1) the cited standard applies, (2) there was a failure to comply with the cited standard, (3) employees had access to the violative condition, and (4) the cited employer either knew or could have known of the condition with the exercise of reasonable diligence.") (emphasis added).

Such requirements place limits on the types of work and on the employers that can be held accountable for an asbestos violation.

The Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with the proper, longstanding recognized standard of review observed in *Secretary of Labor v. OSHRC and Milliken & Co.*, 947 F.2d 14983, 15 BNA 1373 at 1374 (11th Cir. 1991):

"We also reject the Secretary's second argument. We hold that the Commission's finding with respect to reasonable diligence is a question of fact, subject to substantial evidence review, and not a mixed question of law and fact. The relevant provision of the statute defines a "serious violation" as follows:

For purposes of this section, a serious violation shall be deemed to exist in a place of employment if there is a substantial probability that death or serious physical harm could result from a condition which exists, or from one or more practices, means, methods, operations, or processes which have been adopted or are in use, in such place of employment unless the employer did not, and could not with the exercise of reasonable diligence, know of the presence of the violation. 29 U.S.C.A. §666(k). What constitutes reasonable diligence will vary with the facts of each case. We think that this determination is appropriately considered to be question of fact, and that the substantial evidence standard of review is appropriate. In so holding, we follow the binding precedent in Atlas Roofing Co. v. Occupational S. & H. Rev. Com'n, 518 F.2d 990, 1013 [3 OSHC § 490] (5th Cir. 1975), aff'd on other grounds, 430 U.S. 442, 97 S.Ct. 1261, 51 L.Ed.2d 464 [5 OSHC 1105] (1977)..." (emphasis added)

The Superior Court findings of fact on missing issues, under

RCW 49.17.150(1), should have been given deference and

reviewed under the WISHA substantial evidence standard of

review. The Board IAJ's decision clearly omitted any findings on

the required threshold issues of constructive knowledge or

reasonable diligence.

The Court of Appeals decision is in direct conflict with case law and statutory review requirements and imposed an inapplicable presumption only analysis. The Superior Court made findings of fact and should have been given deference and review under the substantial evidence standard. The proper standard of review, had it been applied, would have led to affirmance. These WISHA administrative cases are cases routinely reviewed by the Superior Court which has expertise in applying the WISHA law and determining findings of fact when they are absent on required statutory issues such as reasonable employer diligence.

The Court of Appeals' blanket presumption application conflicts with the proper role of a reviewing court.

B. THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW UNDER RAP 13.4(B)(1) AND (2) TO CORRECT THE COURT OF APPEALS DEPARTED FROM EXISTING PRECEDENT WHEN IT PRESUMED ALL BURDEN OF PROOF ELEMENTS BASED UPON AN UNCITED, INAPPLICABLE PRESUMPTION FROM A DEFINITION SECTION

1. Inapplicable Definition By Its Terms.

The Court of Appeals reversed the Superior Court using the

following single definition section in WAC 296-62-07703:

Presumed asbestos-containing material means thermal system insulation and surfacing material found in buildings, vessels, and vessel sections construction no later than 1980. The designation of a material as "PACM" may be rebutted pursuant to WAC 296-62-07721.

This definition is inapplicable on its face: All of the asbestos

thermal insulation material in APCom's building owner designated

limited work area between #11 and #12 preheaters was removed and replaced with non-asbestos thermal insulation. The owner's exclusive asbestos abatement contractor. Performance Abatement Services and its supervisor Mr. Ortis, performed this remodeling after 1985 when he was first hired by the building owner. The undisputed testimony of Mr. Ortis, "the only person" who knows where the asbestos has been removed or exists, conflicts and refutes any application of this definition. This "presumption" has never been applied to any removed and replaced non-asbestos material, work area, or employer who received assurances of a clean, asbestos-free, designated work area, as APCom received and worked in. By its own terms, the WAC 296-62-07703 designation of a material as PACM is rebutted pursuant to WAC 296-62-07721. Under WAC 296-62-07721(b) (Appendix C), no inspection of material needs to be performed by a building owner or its asbestos abatement agent whenever they indicate what TransAlta and Mr. Ortis of Performance Abatement Services assured to APCom here. The facility owner or its agent must conduct a good faith inspection prior to any work and they were exempt here because they knew the asbestos had been removed from this work area and assured APCom of that.

(ii) Before authorizing or allowing any construction ... maintenance ... project a building/vessel and facility owner or agent must perform ... good faith inspection to determine whether materials to be worked on or removed contain asbestos...documented by a written report.

- (A) By an accredited inspector
- (B) Such good faith inspection is not required if ... building/vessel and facility owner or owner's agent assumes that ... the owner or the owner's agent is reasonably certain that asbestos will not be disturbed by the project.

The IAJ in the Court of Appeals placed the duty to make a

good faith inspection on APCom instead of on TransAlta or its

agent.

1. The Court of Appeals' Presumption Applied Against APCom Conflicts With Prior Case Law And The Washington Statute.

Case law including a Division III precedent reject the use of

such presumptions of hazards or serious violation elements.

See WA Dept. of Labor & Industries v. Kaiser Aluminum &

Chemical Corp., 111 Wn. App. 771, at 780, 19 BNA-OSHC

1862, at 1966 (Div. 3, 2002), rejecting the Department's reliance

on a presumption to meet its burden-of-proof elements.

Obtaining assurances by the contractor of the facility owner

of the safety of the contractor's work area condition, as APCom

clearly did here, is a determining factor of "reasonable

diligence." See Secretary of Labor v. Midwest Generation, LLC,

19 BNA-OSHC 11502, at 1523, 1527, 1528 (ALJ Barkley 2001)

when a single, unexplained piece of material showed up during

a non-asbestos construction contractor's project work, the

presumed asbestos material citation was rejected and

dismissed because

- (1) The record does not show that Midwest failed to exercise due diligence in determining the presence, location and quantity of ACM or PACM at the site, and
- (2) "The Secretary's argument, that here she did not need to show that employer had actual or constructive knowledge, would impose strict liability on employers, and has long been rejected." (emphasis supplied.

The imposition of strict liability imposed here by the Court of Appeals inapplicable presumptions imposed strict liability here against APCom. No Federal OSHA or State WISHA case allows such presumptions of the Department's burden-of-proof elements or of the required RCW 49.17.180(1) statutory requirements for "serious" violations or citations.

A employer's duty is to take reasonably diligent measures to detect hazardous conditions through inspection of worksites; it is

.

not obligated to detect or become aware of every instance of existence of a hazard. *Secretary v. Ragnar Benson*, at 18 BNA at 1940, 1999 CCH OSHC at p. 47,373 (citing *Texas A.C.A., Inc.*, 17 BNA OSHC 1048, 1050, 1993-95 CCH OSHD ¶ 30,652, p. 42,527 (No. 91-3467, 1995)) See also *Eagle Marine Services*, Dkt. Nos. 95-W189, 95-W190 and 95-W191 (BIIA, 3/27/96).

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