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

Department appealed the superior court's decision to the Court of 

Appeals, which reversed the superior court and reinstated the Board's 

order affirming the citation. See ApComPower, Slip op. at 9. 

The Court of Appeals rejected APC's arguments that its intent 

governed the applicability of the asbestos regulations, that it could rely on 

Ortiz's statements as to the absence of asbestos to discharge its duty to 

comply with the regulations, that it could not have known of the violations 

by exercising reasonable diligence, that exposure was not proven on a 

chain of custody theory, and that the Department was required to show 

actual exposure. 3 

APC moved for reconsideration, which was denied. APC now 

petitions for review. 

3 APC has abandoned its arguments regarding intent, chain of custody, and 
actual exposure, See Pet. at 1-20. 
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IV. ARGUMENT 

The Court should· not grant review because APC has not 

demonstrated a conflict with any Supreme Court or Court of Appeals 

decision, its stated bases for seeking review. Pet. at 13. APC first argues 

that the Court of Appeals used the wrong standard of review by applying 

the Administrative Procedure Act in conflict with Cobra Roofing Servs, 

Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 122 Wn. App. 402, 409, 97 P.3d 17 

(2004), aff'd 157 Wn.2d 90 (2006). Pet. 2, 9. As Cobra Roofing 

indicates, the Administrative Procedure Act does not apply to WISHA 

appeals. RCW 34.05.030. Here, the Court of Appeals expressly cited and 

relied upon the WISHA standard of review statute, and no conflict with 

Cobra Roofing is demonstrated. See ApComPower, Slip op. at 3. 

APC then argues that the Court of Appeals should not have relied 

upon the regulation establishing a rebuttable presumption that provides 

that certain materials contain asbestos. Pet. at 13. It argues that Dep 't of 

Labor & Indus. v. Kaiser Aluminum & Chern. Corp., 111 Wn. App. 771, 

48 P.3d 324 (2002), does not allow the Department to use presumptions to 

establish its prilna facie case. Pet. at 15. There is no conflict. In Kaiser 

Aluminum, the court did not allow the Department to assume equipment 

failed where the evidence proved that it did not. !d. at 780. But no 

Washington case holds that the Department may not rely upon a 
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presumption established in a properly adopted regulation. To the contrary, 

this Court recognizes that properly promulgated regulations have the force 

and effect of law. See Wingert v. Yellow Freight Sys., Inc., 

146 Wn.2d 841, 848, 50 P.3d 256 (2002). APC has not demonstrated any 

conflict justifying further review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or RAP 13.4(b)(2). 

Accordingly, this Court should deny review. 

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Does Not Conflict With Cobra 
Roofing as the Court of Appeals Applied the Correct Standard 

The Court of Appeals used the correct standard of review in this 

case, and this Court should reject APC's attempt to elevate an incidental 

citation in the decision into a conflict. APC claims that the Court of 

Appeals did not use the '"substantial evidence' test to review the Superior 

Court's Findings of Fact that were missing from the decision." Pet. at 9. 

It references the Court of Appeals' cite to RCW 34.05.562(2)(a) to say 

that the wrong standard was used. Pet.' at 10. First, it is the Board's 

findings that are reviewed, not the superior court's. J.E. Dunn Nw., Inc. v. 

Dep't of Labor & Indus., 139 Wn. App. 35, 42, 156 P.3d 250 (2007). 

Second, the Court of Appeals properly cited RCW 49.17 .150( 1) for the 

"substantial evidence" standard of review applicable in this case. 

ApComPower, Slip op. at 3 (quoting RCW 49.17.150(1)).4 Third, the 

4 APC also argues that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a federal 
case, Martin v. Occupational Safety & Health Comm 'n, 947 F.2d 1483 (11th Cir.), which 
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citation to the Administrative Procedure Act provision was in the context 

of discussing legal authority on the question of whether the court should 

remand to the Board for further findings, not the standard of review. 

APC argued below that the Board failed to make a finding as to the 

element of knowledge and therefore, the citation should be vacated in its 

entirety. Appellant's Br. at 25. The Court of Appeals rejected this 

argument, concluding that, at most, the remedy would be to remand the 

case to the Board to make the necessary finding but, because the evidence 

was uncontroverted, a remand was needless. ApComPower, Slip op. at 14. 

As part of its analysis, the Court of Appeals noted that remanding to the 

Board to enter the necessary findings was the appropriate remedy under 

RCW 34.05.562(2)(a). Id. APC argues that because the Court of Appeals 

cited this statute in discussing the remedy, the decision conflicts with 

Cobra Roofing, which states that this Act does not apply to WISHA 

appeals. See Cobra Roofing, 122 Wn. App. at 417; see Pet. at 2, 10. But 

the Court of Appeals did not remand. It ultimately determined that 

remanding the case to the Board would be a "useless act," citing a non-

Administrative Procedure Act case to support its conclusion. 

ApComPower, Slip op. at 7 (citing Cogswell v. Cogswell, 50 Wn.2d 597, 

notes the substantial evidence standard. Pet. at II. There is no conflict because that case 
also used the substantial evidence standard. Even had there been a conflict, conflict with 
a federal case is not relevant to the inquiry under RAP l3.4(b)(l)(2). 
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601-02,313 P.2d 364 (1957)). The Board record was sufficient for review 

on the knowledge issue. 

In any event, the pr?position that a remand may be appropriate for 

entry of a necessary finding is not unique to the Administrative Procedure 

Act, but applies generally in cases. See, e.g., In re Breedlove, 

138 Wn.2d 298, 311, 979 P.2d 417 (1999); see also Zink v. City of Mesa, 

140 Wn. App. 328, 340, 166 P.3d 738 (2007). The Court of Appeals' 

decision is consistent with established case law. 

Moreover, although APC claims that there was not a specific 

finding about knowledge (Pet. at 9), the Board found that APC 

"permitted" its workers to undertake an asbestos abatement project. 

BR 50. APC cannot properly be said to have "permitted" an employee to 

take a given action unless it had awareness of the fact that the employee 

took that action. Awareness is knowledge. 

B. The Court of Appeals Decision Does Not Conflict With Kaiser 
Aluminum as That Case Does Not Hold That the Department 
Cannot Apply Its Regulation About Presumed Asbestos 
Containing Material 

Contrary to APC's arguments, the Court of Appeals decision did 

not conflict with Kaiser Aluminum, 111 Wn. App. 771, or any other 

decision, when it applied WAC 296-62-07703 and WAC 296-62-07721. 

WAC 296-62-07703 .creates a presumption that certain material in 
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buildings built before 1980 contain asbestos. APC argues that this 

regulation cannot be used because it believes that presumptions are not 

relevant to determine whether the Department met its burden of proof at 

the Board to show employer knowledge. See Pet. at 15. 

APC's reliance on Kaiser Aluminum is misplaced. In Kaiser 

Aluminum, the Department cited the employer for a violation of a general 

duty clause to provide a safe work place when a Bobcat bucket that was 

raised during repairs descended on the worker, suffocating him. Kaiser 

Aluminum, 111 Wn. App. at 780.5 The Department assumed that the cause 

of the accident was because an angle iron had either failed or become 

dislodged. Id. The court determined that the Department could not rely 

on this factual assumption, which it called a "presumption," when the 

evidence dep1onstrated that the angle iron did not contribute to the 

accident. Kaiser Aluminum, 111 Wn. App. at 780. 

The court's rejection of the Department's "presumption" iri Kaiser 

Aluminum is wholly different from the present case. In Kaiser Aluminum, 

the Department made afactual assumption as to the cause of the accident. 

Here, the presumption that thermal insulation located in a building built 

before 1980 contains asbestos is applied as a matter of law in a regulation 

promulgated to address the specific hazards associated with asbestos. It is 

5 The general duty clause applies to recognized hazards for which no specific 
standard or regulation has been promulgated. WAC 296-800-11005. 
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well-established that a properly promulgated regulation has the force of 

law. See Wingert, 146 Wn.2d at 848. APC asserts that no federal or state 

case "allows" the Department to rely on a presumption in order to 

establish an element of its burden of proof. See Pet. at 16. Not only does 

APC not cite any authority for this proposition, it mistakes what the Court 

of Appeals did. The court did not determine that the presumption itself 

established knowledge, but merely that reasonable diligence required APC 

to know that the regulations required it to treat the material as presumed to 

contain asbestos until that presumption was rebutted. ApComPower, 

Slip op. at 8. 

APC also argues that the presumption was rebutted. Pet. at 14. 

Besides rearguing the facts, this is not correct. WAC 296-62-07721 

presumes that certain types of materials, such as thermal insulation in 

buildings constructed before 1980, contain asbestos. 

WAC 296-62-07721(2)(b)(i). This type of insulation is also explicitly 

defined as presumed asbestos containing material. WAC 296-62-07703. 

To rebut· the presumption that thermal insulation contains asbestos, the 

regulations require that an employer either obtain an inspection according 

to the requirements of 40 C.F.R. Part 763, also known as a good faith 

survey, or perform tests of the material to demonstrate that it does not 

contain asbestos. WAC 296-62-07721 (3). 
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The TransAlta plant was constructed in 1972 and contained 

asbestos throughout. BR Ortis 6. The evidence established that APC's 

employees removed thermal system insulation and surfacing material. 

BR Fierro 66; BR Johnson 85; BR Ortis 10, 44. Thus, the block material 

removed by APC' s employees was presumed to contain asbestos, and the 

evidence established that it did, in fact, contain asbestos. BR Ortis 20-21, 

29. APC argues that the "findings below at the Board found that all of the 

asbestos thermal insulation had· been removed and replaced" before the 

work commenced. Pet. at 2; see also Pet. at 5. This is not correct. To 

make its assertion, APC cites to a summary of its own testimony, not to 

the Board's findings of fact. Pet. at 5; BR 25. But the IAJ specifically 

found in finding of fact no. 2 that APC workers "removed thermal system 

asbestos" from the jobsite. BR 50; see also BR 43. Substantial evidence 

supports this finding. See BR Fierro 66; BR Johnson 85-86. 

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that because APC failed 

to adequately investigate whether its employees would encounter asbestos, 

it failed to exercise reasonable diligence to discover the violative 

conditions. ApComPower, Slip op. at 13, 15. Reasonable diligence is 

relevant to the question of knowledge. A serious violation of a WISHA 

regulation exists if the employer knew, or with the exercise of reasonable 

diligence, could have known of the violative condition. 
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RCW 49.17 .180( 6); Erection Co. v. Dep 't of Labor & Indus., 

160 Wn. App. 194, 206-07, 248 P .3d 1085 (20 11 ). As part of its analysis, 

the Court of Appeals reasoned that because APC's employees were 

removing thermal insulation, it had a duty to treat the material as 

presumed asbestos-containing material until that presumption was 

rebutted. ApComPower, Slip op. at 13. The Court of Appeals determined 

that APC failed to rebut the presumption and therefore failed to exercise 

reasonable diligence to prevent its employees from disturbing asbestos 

containing material. !d. 

APC asserts that nowhere below was the presumption applied. 

Pet. at 9. While the Board did not expressly discuss this presumption in its 

analysis of whether APC exercised reasonable diligence, it did find that 

APC's reliance on Ortis' statements, its failure to treat the material as 

containing asbestos, and failure to understand the location of any asbestos, 

amounted to a failure to exercise reasonable diligence. BR 44-45. This is 

effectively the same as requiring APC to rebut the presumption that the 

material the employees were disturbing was presumed to contain asbestos. 

The Board and the Court of Appeals determined that APC had a duty to 

verify Ortis' statements. See BR 44-45; ApComPower, Slip op. at 12-13. 

This is consistent with the requirement of the employer to exercise 

reasonable diligence to discover hazardous conditions, which "include[ s] 
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an employer's obligation to inspect the work area, to anticipate hazards to 

which employees may be exposed, and to take measures to prevent the 

occurrence." Erection Co., 160 Wn. App. at 206-07. 

APC further argues that this presumption has never been applied 

when the material at issue was previously abated and the building owner 

provided assurances that the asbestos was removed. Pet. at 14. It argues 

that because Ortis told APC that asbestos was not in the immediate area 

where APC's employees would be working, it rebutted the presumption 

that the material contained asbestos. Id. However, both the Board and the 

Court correctly determined that APC could not absolve itself of its own 

responsibility to understand and verify the location of asbestos in the 

plant. BR 44-45; ApComPower, Slip op. at 6-7. 

Substantial evidence supports this conclusion because APC knew 

that there was asbestos block material in the area where its employees 

would be working and it knew that Ortis relied on his memory as to its 

location. BR Ortis 33; BR Mitchell 56-57. APC further knew asbestos 

had been in the relevant area and that only part of it had been removed. 

BR Mitchell 56. APC knew that in most cases asbestos is only partially 

removed to the extent necessary for work to be performed, thus it knew 

asbestos could still be in the area. BR Puderbaugh 43. The Board and the 

Court correctly determined that in order to rebut the presumption, APC 
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should have verified Ortis' statements either through a good faith survey 

or through other testing of the area. 

APC asserts that the Board and the Court placed the duty to 

conduct a good faith survey on APC, when the regulations require the 

building owner to perform the survey. Pet. at 15. ·Contrary to APC's 

assertion, the Court did note that it is the building owner's duty to conduct 

the survey. ApComPower, Slip op. at 6. The Court correctly determined 

that APC had its own duty to verify that the presumption was rebutted-in 

other words, that the building owner had met its obligation-before 

sending in its workers to work around asbestos. Id at 7. Indeed, the 

regulations place a duty on employers to ensure they receive a copy of the 

good faith survey or a written statement of the reasonable certainty that 

asbestos will not be disturbed. !d.; WAC 296-62-07721 (2)( c )(iv)( e). APC 

obtained neither. 

The regulations provide that a good faith survey is not required if 

the owner provides a written statement that the owner is reasonably certain 

that asbestos or presumes asbestos material will not be disturbed. 

WAC 296-62-07721(2)(b)(ii)(B). APC asserts that Ortis' statements and 

the map he drew were sufficient to meet this exception. Pet. at 18. A 

poorly drawn map is not a written statement. More critically, certainty 

requires more than someone's memory when asbestos is known to be in 
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the area. Substantial evidence demonstrates that the map Ortis drew from 

his memory was not sufficient to meet a statement of reasonable certainty. 

In order to have a reasonable basis to be certain that asbestos would not be 

disturbed, APC would have to receive objective data concerning the 

location of the asbestos, such as a good faith survey, testing, or records of 

asbestos abatement to verify the exact location of abatement, none of 

which APC obtained from Ortis. WAC 296-62-07721(3); see also 

WAC 296-62-07709(2)(a)(iii). Not only did APC fail to verify that Ortis' 

statements were accurate, it failed to communicate what information it did 

have on the location of asbestos to the employees removing the insulation, 

another requirement under WAC 296-62-07721 (2)( c )(ii). 

APC 's failure to presume that the insulation its employees were 

removing contained asbestos until it had verified that asbestos would not 

be present in the area where its employees were working established that 

APC did not exercise reasonable diligence to know of the violative 

condition. 
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V. CONCLUSION 

APC has demonstrated no conflict with decisions of either the Supreme 

Court or Court of Appeals, nor has it shown any other basis warranting 

review. For the reasons discussed above, the Department asks this Court 

to deny review